
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
EIGHTH SESSION 
Official Records 

CONTENTS 

Qucs~ion of ~mpartial investigation of charges of use by 
U111ted Nations forces of bacterial warfare (continued) 135 

Chairman: Mr. F. VAN LANGENHOVE (Belgium). 

Question of impartial investigation of char"es of 
use by United Nations forces of bacterial war· 
fare (A/24.06, A/ C.l/L.66, A/C.l/L.6'7, A/C.l/ 
L.68) (continued) 

[Item 24]* 

1. :Mr. 1Ianu AMATAYAKUL (Thailand) said 
tl:at! since _Thailand had participated in the United 
:1\a.tiOns actwn in Korea to repel aggression, the accu
satiOn lodged by the Soviet Union against the United 
?tat~s of having waged bacterial warfare entailed an 
anplrcit charge against Thailand. Thailand had acceded 
to the Geneva Protocol of 1925 and it would have been 
!nconceivable for it to accept the use of germ weapons 
m an action in which its armed forces were directly 
involved. 

2. Use of bacterial devices would have come imme
diately to the attention of the Thailand component of 
the lJnited Nations armed forces and would have been 
duly reported to its Government. Thailand was there
fore in the position to endorse categorically the state
ments of the United Nations Command to the effect 
that the charges of the use of bacterial weapons were 
a tissue of fabrications. 

3. Use had been made of fake confessions of imag
inary participation in germ warfare extorted from 
defenceless prisoners of war captured by the North 
Koreans and Chinese Communists. In the war against 
communist aggression in Korea there had been enough 
instances of valour and gallantry among men fighting 
for what they knew to be the right cause. But once 
these men were made captives, it was only natural that 
even the most courageous might lose <:omplete control 
of themselves and make statements for which they 
could not be held responsible. The miracle was not' that 
the Communists succeeded in extorting the few con
fessions they did obtain but rather that they were 
unable to break more human beings yet. The assertions 
to the contrary of the Soviet Union representative 
collapsed when one examined the nature of the testi
mony of repatriated prisoners of war tellino- of the 
treatment meted out to them by their capt~rs. The 
Soviet representative had said that such testimony was 
obtained from the Americans by their own military 

*Indicates the item number on the agenda of the General 
Assembly. 

FIRST COMMITTE~, 652nd 
MEETING 

Friday, 30 October 1953, 
at 10.30 a.m. 

New York 

authorities under duress. But a study of the document 
circulated by the United States delegation showed that 
a great part of the testimony came from Americans 
who had miraculously succeeded in defeating the efforts 
of their captors and had persisted in their refusal to 
sign .any fake confessions,. so that they certainly had no 
retaliatiOn by court martlal to fear on their return to 
the United Nations side. 
4. Under those circumstances, the Soviet draft resolu
tion (AjC.1jL67) was a mere stratagem calculated to 
obscure the facts and to justify the propaganda cam
paign on the alleged use of bacterial warfare. His 
delegation would therefore vote against the Soviet 
draft resolution (A/C.1/L.68). If the USSR was 
truly interested in eliminating weapons of mass destruc
tion, it was necessary to see what safeguards it would 
be willing to accept. Consideration of that point was 
clearly a matter for the Disarmament Commission. 

5. Mr. ECHEVERRI CORTES (Colombia) said 
that his country like many others was opposed to the 
use of bacterial weapons. Colombia had signed the 
Geneva Protocol of 1925, and had joined four other 
delegations in submitting draft resolution AjC.1jL68 
because it considered that the Disarmament Commis
sion would thus be enabled to examine the USSR draft 
resolution (AjC.1jL.67). 
6. It should be stressed that the Unified Command 
had never used bacterial warfare for the very simple 
reason that it would have been impossible to infect any 
area without exposing the soldiers on both sides to the 
infection, especially as the fighting in Korea had taken 
place at very close quarters and there were large num
bers of prisoners who could have been carriers of 
infection. 
7. For that reason, and for the reasons stated by the 
United States and Cuban representatives, the Colom
bian delegation was convinced that the USSR's charges 
were merely a pretext for creating ill will towards the 
States unjustly accused of having made use of a meth
od of warfare prohibited by international law. The 
Colombian delegation would therefore vote against the 
USSR draft resolution (A/C.1/L.67). 

8. Mr. PALAMARCHUK (Ukrainian Soviet So
cialist Republic) said that when the question had first 
been raised by the United States at the seventh session 
the Ukrainian and other delegations had justifiably 
proposed ( 590th meeting) that representatives of 
North Korea and China should be invited to state their 
views so that the United Nations could consider the 
matter in an impartial manner. However, the United 
States had opposed that invitation. The question had 
then been examined in a one-sided and biased manner 
in violation of the Charter. It had been clear even at 
that time that the United States did not want an im
partial investigation. It was interested only in devel
oping its slanderous propaganda against the USSR. 

135 AjC.ljSR.652 



136 General AssemiJly-Eighth Session-Iirst Committee 

9. At the present session, the United States sought 
to deceive public opinion by using statements by 
released prisoners repudiating their previous testimony. 
In the first place, it should be noted that many of 
those statements showed that the prisoners had not been 
subject to coercion during their captivity. With regard 
to certain prisoners' repudiation of their previous con
fessions, due regard should be paid to their fear of 
punishment for having revealed United States methods 
of warfare, especially as the United States Secretary 
of Defense, Mr. \Vilson, had stated that soldiers making 
statements while prisoners of war would be subject to 
the provisions of military law. The statements by re
leased prisoners were therefore a mere propaganda 
manceuvre. 

10. International tension had been decreasing for 
some time. The United Nations should therefore invite 
all States who had not yet done so to accede to the 
1925 Geneva Protocol. If the Assembly issued such 
an appeal, it would undoubtedly contribute to the main
tenance of international peace and security. The 
Geneva Protocol had become an important instrument 
of international law imposing political and moral obliga
tions on States. Those who argued that it had lost some 
of its significance failed to recognize the facts; during 
the Second World War even the fascist States had not 
dared to violate the Protocol. The argument that the 
Protocol had lost some of its significance must be re
garded as evidence of a desire to evade the obligations 
it imposed. The USSR draft resolution (A/C.l/L.67) 
was designed to prevent such dangerous action and the 
Ukrainian delegation would therefore vote for it. 

11. Mr. Y. MALIK (Union of Soviet Socialist Re
publics) said that the delegations representing coun
tries which had taken part in the Korean war were 
seeking to justify the United States methods by repeat
ing the fairy story that the war had been waged by 
the United Nations, when it was common knowledge 
that the war had been carried on by the United States 
under the flag of the United Nations. The arguments 
put forward were merely slanders, intended either to 
distort the meaning of the USSR draft resolution 
( AjC.ljL.67), or to prove that the confessions of 
the United States airmen had been extorted from them 
under duress. Yet, as the Polish, Dyelorussian and 
other delegations had shown, United States newspapers 
had themselves admitted that the treatment of prisoners 
of war by the North Koreans and the Chinese had been 
in keeping with the Geneva Convention of 19-t9. 
Moreover, the American airmen taken prisoner had 
denied that they had been subjected to coercion. 
Colonel Frank H. Schwable had admitted that he had 
never been directly threatened with violence. The slan
derous allegations of the United States that the tes
timony given while in captivity had been obtained 
under duress were shown to be mere fabrications. 

12. Colonel Schwable had attempted to explain his 
testimony by saying that he had been subjected to an 
organized system of pressure. However, he himself 
had stated that the pressure had consisted of trying to 
convince him that the Korean war had been launched 
by South Korea with the support of the United States, 
that the delay in signing an armistice had been the 
result of the intransigence of the United States and 
that the United States had used particularly cruel 
methods of warfare. Plainly the so-called system of 
moral pressure had amounted merely to telling the 

truth. There was therefore no need to dwell on the 
spuriousness of the argument that the American air
men had been for.ced to believe facts that were true. 

13. Colonel Schwable had also claimed that he had 
made his statement, while in captivity, with the object 
of serving his country. That argument was not to 
be taken seriously. Nobody had ever considered that 
untruthful statements jeopardizing the honour of a 
country could be of service to that country. The United 
States military authorities had played the wrong card 
with their "faked testimony" and had failed utterly. 
Moreover, it was interesting to note that the idea of 
"faked testimony" had been put forward by the United 
States authorities even before the prisoners returned. 
For example, The New Y ark Times on 8 September 
1953 had indicated that the returning prisoners might 
render a service to their country and had explained 
how they should conduct themselves in repudiating 
the testimony they had given and in slandering the 
North Korean and Chinese authorities. 

14. In the face of a difficult situation, the United 
States had been forced to use the statements of four 
unknown airmen who claimed to have been tortured 
while in captivity and to have refused to give testi
mony. It was not surprising that the United States had 
been able to find a number of persons, who were pre
pared, under the influence of the campaign of hatred 
against North Korea and communist China, to give 
slanderous testimony in order, presumably, to render 
a service to their country. That campaign of hatred 
was in full swing in the United States. The prisoners 
of war were being used in the United States to revive 
the cold war. "Brain-washing" was being done by 
means of political pressure of the kind that had made 
McCarthy notorious. Slanderous statements were being 
made regarding so-called communist imperialism, which 
was a contradiction in terms. The Unit eel States repre
sentative had gone so far as to distort completely the 
meaning of Lenin's statement on morality. He had 
taken words out of context and hac! disregarded the 
fact that Lenin had attached the greatest importance 
to ethics and morality in the uew Soviet society. 

15. Some representatives had stated that the Govern
ment of North Korea and the Chinese People's Re
public had opposed an impartial study of the matter. 
Those state111ents were untme. In fact those Govern
ments had on several occasions requested the United 
Nations for an opportunity to take part in the debates 
on the question. Those requests had remained nnan
S\vered and the representatives who now claimed that 
North Korea and China had opposed an impartial 
study were the very ones who had rejected their re
quest to take part in the debate. Moreover, experience 
had shown that when the United Nations adopted a 
resolution affecting France, for example, and the 
French delegation had not taken part in the debate, 
the French Government had refused to implement it. 
Why then should a different solution be adopted in a 
similar ·case? In any case, it was clear that the United 
States, not North Korea or China, had prevented an 
impartial study of the question. 

16. The USSR draft resolution (A/C.l/L.67) would 
help to strengthen international peace and security by 
consolidating the principle whereby lVIember States 
pledged themselves not to engage in bacterial warfare. 
The opponents of the draft resolution made use of 
contradictory arguments. Some of them claimed that 



652nd Meeting-30 October 1953 137 

it had been introduced in order to divert attention from 
the statements of the released American airmen, while 
others claimed that the draft resolution was not new. 
The Greek representative, for example, had argued 
( 650th meeting) that the value of the Geneva Protocol 
o.f 1925 had been very much weakened by the reserva
tiOns .made by the USSR. He appeared to forget that 
the nght of a government to make reservations to a 
conve~tion at the time of ratification had been long 
~stabhshed. Moreover, those reservations in no way 
Impaired the validity of the Protocol. Finally, other 
Sta~es had .made identical reservations, among them the 
Umted Kmgdom, France, Canada, Australia, New 
Zea!and, the Union of South Africa, Iceland, Iraq, 
Indta, Czechoslovakia and the Netherlands. 

17. The opponents of the USSR draft resolution were 
seeking to attain their ends by devious means. They 
proposed that the draft resolution should be transmit
ted to the Disarmament Commission. It would be 
remembered, however, that it was the Soviet Union 
which had proposed consideration of the question by 
the Commission and asked that bacterial warfare should 
be prohibited and that appropriate steps should be taken 
to that end. Yet its proposal had been rejected by 
those who now proposed that the new USSR resolution 
should be transmitted to the Disarmament Commission. 
The five-Power draft resolution (AjC.ljL.68) was 
obviously an attempt to shelve the USSR draft resolu
tion permanently. 

18. The USSR delegation considered that the Gen
eral Assembly should take a decision with regard to 
bacterial warfare. The Geneva Protocol of 1925 was a 
far-reaching instrument which should be binding on 
all civilized peoples. The recommendation which the 
Assembly should adopt did not necessitate any further 
investigation. The action involved, though simple, was 
important to the maintenance of international peace 
and security. In any event, it was unnecessary to refer 
the question to the Disarmament Commission. The 
USSR delegation therefore hoped that its draft resolu
tion would be supported by the First Committee. 

19. Dr. MAYO (United States) reserved the right 
to reply later to the statements made by the Ukrainian 
and USSR representatives. He wished to state, how
ever, that the USSR had once again proved that the 
big lie was part of communist technique. It was re
ported that twenty-one cinemas in Moscow were cur
rently showing a film called Silver Dust in which the 
villains were all Americans plotting horrors against 
the USSR. As the film industry in the USSR was a 
government monopoly, that production was directly 
traceable to the Soviet Government itself. For many 
years, that government had been conducting a campaign 
of hatred against the United States. The Prime Min
ister of the USSR, Mr. Malenkov, had stated on 15 
March 1953 that the USSR intended to pursue a 
peaceful policy. In August, he had made a statement 
to the effect that there was no outstanding issue which 
could not be settled peacefully between the USSR and 
the United States and had added that his Government 
continued to stand for the peaceful co-existence of the 
two systems. Nevertheless, in direct contravention of 
those solemn statements, the new campaign of slander 
was being launched by the USSR against the United 
States. By persisting in such propaganda, the Govern
ment of the USSR was digging still deeper the gulf 
of distrust between the two countries. 

20. Mr. Y. MALIK (Union of Soviet Socialist Re
publics) stated that, during the four years he had 
spent in the United States, dozens of films slandering 
the Soviet Union had been shown. That fact showed 
where the responsibility for conducting a campaign of 
hatred really lay. He reserved the right to reply later 
to the United States representative's statement. 

21. Mr. KYROU (Greece), in reply to the USSR 
representative, said that in his previous statement he 
had stressed that the USSR reservations to the Geneva 
Protocol had been similar to those made by France 
and the United Kingdom; he had also said that the 
USSR did not have the right to demand the ratification 
oi the Protocol until it withdrew its charges, charges 
which would suggest that those reservations had been 
made for other purposes. 

22. The CHAIRMAN pointed out that the USSR 
representative, like all other members of the Com
mittee, had the right to reply at a subsequent meeting. 
In the meantime, he would open the discussion of the 
draft resolutions before the Committee. 

23. Mr. M. S. WILLIAMS (United Kingdom) read 
the five-Power draft resolution (A/C.l/L.68) and 
reminded representatives of his delegation's statement 
at the 649th meeting to the effect that the USSR draft 
resolution (A/C.1jL.67) had been submitted in order 
to distract attention from the refusal of the Govern
ments of the People's Republic of China and the Demo
cratic People's Republic of Korea to submit the charges 
to impartial investigation, from the absurdity of the 
allegations themselves and from the brutal methods 
used to extract the confessions. The USSR draft 
resolution would be more appropriately discussed by 
the Disarmament Commission. 

24. The value of the Geneva Protocol of 1925 must 
obviously depend upon the good faith of the signat
ories. The United Kingdom had ratified the Protocol 
and would scrupulously observe it. Nevertheless, 
certain governments had signed the Protocol with 
reservations; the Soviet Union, like the United King
dom, had stipulated that if it were attacked by a State 
with bacterial weapons, it would reserve the right to 
retaliate in like manner. For two years, the Soviet 
Union had falsely accused the United States of using 
bacterial weapons. Thus, it had only to declare that its 
opponents were using bacterial weapons to be released 
from its obligations under the Protocol. It would 
therefore seem apparent that only a limited security 
could be assured by the mere signing of such an instru
ment. 

25. The proper course was for this matter to be con
sidered in the Disarmament Commission. There, it 
should be possible to work out some plan for the 
control of all weapons of mass destruction, including 
bacterial weapons. Such a plan would be far more 
effective than a simple prohibition supported by no 
control system. If the Soviet Union genuinely desired 
to ban bacterial warfare it would have ample oppor
tunity to prove its good intentions in the Commission. 

26. The United Kingdom delegation asked, under 
rule 130, that the five-Power draft resolution (AjC.l/ 
L.68), which was in the nature of a procedural motion, 
should be voted upon before the Soviet draft resolu
tion. If the five-Power draft resolution were approved 
it would obviously be inappropriate for the Committee 



Ccn!:'rz.l )Lsscnthly-righth Scssior1--rlrst Ccn1mittcc 

to prejudge whatever decision the Disarmament Com
mission might wish to take, by voting on the substance 
of the Soviet draft resolution. 

27. Mr. DE LA COLINA (Mexico) pointed out 
that resolution 706 (VII) was still in force. Hitherto, 
the accusers had refused to allow the commission of 
investigation provided for in that resolution to carry 
out its task. As long as they refused, the charges must 
be regarded as absolutely false. The Mexican delega
tion would therefore abstain from voting on the USSR 
draft resolution. It would, however, vote for the five
Power draft resolution, because it considered that it 
was for the Disarmament Commission to deal with any 
problem~ relating to the regulation of armaments. 

28. Mr. Hsioh-Ren WEI (China) stated that he 
would vote against the USSR draft resolution and for 
the five-Power draft. The USSR proposal was a diver
sionary tactic by the USSR and, moreover, was an 
indirect attempt to bring about the censure of the 
United States by the General Assembly. Moreover, the 
reservations made by the USSR to the Geneva Protocol 
had destroyed the purposes of that instrument, since 
under those reservations whenever the USSR wanted 
to employ bacterial warfare it would manufacture false 
accusations. As a member of the Disarmament Com
mission the USSR could present concrete proposals to 
that body, but the Assembly could not accept mere 
declarations and paper agreements. If the USSR was 
sincere in its desire to prohibit lx:tcterial warfare, it 
should immediately withdraw its reservations to the 
Geneva Protocol and accept the necessary safeguards 
to ensure effective elimination of the use of bacterial 
weapons. The Chinese delegation would support the 
five-Power draft resolution and shared the United 
Kingdom representative's view that that text should 
be voted on first, in view of its procedural character. 

29. Mr. PEREZ PEROZO (Venezuela) said that 
his Government had never lent credence to the charges 
against the United Nations forces in Korea, both be
cause of the moral qualifications of the sixteen Member 
States which had taken part in the joint action and 
because of the communi5t Governments' refmal to 
accept an impartial investigation. It had had other 
reasons too for holding to that view. He had therefore 
hoped that a draft resolution would be submitted 
declaring the charges false. He was sorry that that had 
not been done. That being so, he would vote for the 
five-Power draft resolution, as he believed that the 
USSR draft resolution came within the purview of 
the Disarmament Commission. 

30. :Mr. NINCIC (Yugoslavia) ob::erved that his 
Government, as a signatory to the Geneva Protocol, 
was obviously prepared to ask States which had not 
done so also to accede to it. The context in which the 
USSR proposal had been submitted, howeyer, was 
apt to give it a far broader significance than its word
ing would suggest. It would condemn a country with
out proof and without impartial investigation. Indeed, 
it was even doubtful whether that p.roposal was in 
order in connexion with the agenda item before the 
Committee. He hoped that no vote would be taken on 
it; if it was put to the vote, he would abstain. 

31. He would have voted for the five-Power draft 
resolution had he not felt that it prejudged the Dis
armament Commission's decisions and even any deci
sion the Assembly might take on that body's future 

work. He would therefore abstain on that draft resolu
tion also. 

32. Mr. ABDEL-RAZEK (Egypt) said that he was 
sorry that some sections of the Press should have con
strued the silence of the representatives of the African 
and Asian group during the debate as a sign of timidity 
towards the Soviet bloc or as an expression of dis
pleasure at the attitude of certain Powers with regard 
to the Tunisian and Moroccan questions. Like the 
other members of the African and Asian bloc, his 
country's objective was solely freedom, peace and pros
perity. Actuated by such concepts of impartiality and 
conciliation, his country had agreed to become a mem
ber of the commission for investigation set up by 
General Assembly resolution 706 (VII). It had hoped 
that the proposed investigation would have been 
accepted by all and would have reached such con
clusions as would have consolidated peace and good 
relations among nations. The debate which had just 
occurred had, however, taken such a course that the 
Egyptian delegation had thought it better to remain 
on the side lines, and it would abstain on both the 
draft resolutions. It earnestly hoped that the atmo
sphere would clear soon and that the peace negotiations 
in Korea would be successful. 

33. Mr. Y. l\IALIK (Union of Soviet Socialist Re
publics) observed that the reservations made to the 
Geneva Protocol of 1925 by several States had 
strengthened rather than weakened its v;:lue and sc?pe, 
as he had said in a previous statement. The Um~ed 
Kingdom representative's argument in that connexwn 
could not be taken seriously. 

34. The good intentions of t~e USSR, to which the 
United Kingdom representattve had referred, were 
directed to the.benefit of the Geneva Protocol of 192~, 
which contained a clause to the effect that parties to 1t 
must urge all States to sign ?r ratify it. The U~SR 
had submitted many proposals 111 the League of Natwns 
for the strengthening and expansion of the scope of 
the Protocol as could be seen from the report of the 
Committee ~f Twelve (A/AC.S0/3) established by 
General Assembly resolution 496 (V). 

35. It had taken a similar position in the Security 
Council and the Disarmament Commission the prevwus 
year. Its recent efforts had }?een opposed by. the repre
sentatives of the United I'>.mg-dom, the Umted States 
and certain other States. Th~ USSR delegation now 
deemed it necessary that the matter should be con
sidered by the General Assembly, but it seemed c~ear 
that the position of those count.ries' repre~entahves 
remained the same as it had been 111 the prevwus year. 
The sole aim of the proposal to transmit the USSR 
draft resolution to the Disarmament Commission was 
to bury it. The General Assembly had. every reason 
to take a decision on that draft resolutiOn, the more 
so as it dealt with a subject that required neither 
investigation nor further study. 

36. \ilfith regard to the United Kingdom represer:ta
tive's proposal that the five-Power draft resolut~on 
(A/C.ljL.68) should be voted on first, the contentwn 
that it was of a procedural nature was groundle~s. 
The five-Power draft was a substantive one; the Sovtet 
draft ( A/C.l/L.67), having been submitted first, 
should be voted on first, under rule 130 of the rules of 
procedure. The five Powers were trying to defer .c?n
sideration of the subject in order to prevent a dectswn 



Gii2nd M:eeting-30 Oaouer li153 13!) 

being taken. For several years the United States and 
certain other States backing it had refused to take 
specific steps to prohibit the use of the atomic weapon 
and other weapons of mass destruction. The effect of 
that opposition had been to delay the solution of the 
question of prohibiting bacterial weapons. But the 
Geneva Protocol of 1925, an international agreement 
signed by forty-eight States, already existed and 
formed part of the international law binding on all 
civilized nations. Thus, the argument that the absence 
of a decision to prohibit the atomic weapon prevented 
the General Assembly from taking a decision of the 
prohibition of the bacterial weapon was untenable. The 
Assembly must invite States which had not acceded to 
the Geneva Protocol or, having acceded, had not yet 
ratified it, to do so, without waiting for a settlement 
of the other points. Actuated as it was by these con
siderations of principle, the Soviet Union delegation 
was pressing for the vote to be taken on its draft 
resolution first, as it had been submitted first. 

37. The CHAIRMAN said that under the rules of 
procedure it was for the Committee itself to decide 
whether to vote on draft resolutions in an order other 
than that in which they had been submitted. 

38. Sir Per.cy SPENDER (Australia) thought that 
the five-Power draft resolution should be put to the 
vote first. He shared the regret of the Venezuelan 
representative that the Committee had not received 
a draft resolution condemning as false the charges that 
United Nations forces had used bacterial weapons. 
The USSR draft resolution was not intended to 
achieve a decision on the necessity for acceding to the 
Geneva Protocol but to divert the attention of the 
Committee from the falseness of the charges made by 
the USSR. If that draft resolution was put to the vote 
first, his delegation would vote against it. 

39. Mr. KATZ-SUCHY (Poland), supporting the 
USSR draft resolution, expressed his conviction that 
the Assembly, if it accepted the draft, would be acting 
in conformity with the principles of the Charter. An 
appeal to the countries which had not yet done so, to 
ratify the Geneva Protocol of 1925 would have very 
valuable results in the present circumstances. During 
the debate, members of the Committee had spoken of 
everything except bacterial warfare. For example, the 
United States representative had sought to prove that 
the depositions made by American officers concerning 
their participation in bacterial warfare had been ex
torted frow them under duress. The efforts of the 
United States representative had completely failed and 
he had been compelled to revive an old story of atroci
ties, dating from 1951, which was already recognized 
as completely false. 

40. The Polish delegation saw no objection to the 
proposal to refer the Soviet Union draft resolution to 
the Disarmament Commission. The wisest plan, how
ever, would be to adopt the Soviet Union proposal 
since it would strengthen the work of the Disarmament 
Commission and, at the same time, would confirm 
General Assembly resolutio'n 41 (I) taken in 1946 
concerning the absolute necessity for prohibiting all 
weapons of mass destruction. 

41. To allege, as the Australian representative had 
done, that the purpose of the USSR draft resolution 
was vicious, was to undermine the belief of peoples in 
the ability of the United Nations to prohibit weapons 

of mass destruction. The same representative had 
regretted that the charges made by the Soviet Union 
had not been condemned as false, but had opposed an 
impartial investigation by voting against the proposal 
to invite representatives of the Chinese People's Re
public and the Democratic Republic of Korea to take 
part in the discussion and in the investigation. 

42. The allegation that the Soviet Union draft resolu
tion was directed against the United States should also 
be refuted. It neither mentioned nor condemned any 
State and its only aim was to secure recognition of the 
necessity for prohibiting the use of bacterial weapons 
and all other weapons of mass destruction. It '':as 
true that the United States was one of the countnes 
which had not yet ratified the Geneva Protocol of 1925. 
That could not be explained, as certain delegations had 
sought to do, on the grounds of technical difficulties. 
In that connexion, he would merely remind represen
tatives that in 1926 Senator Tyson had stated in the 
United States Congress that the idea of rejecting one 
of the most efficient weapons that the United States 
possessed appeared absolutely absurd to him. It should 
also be stressed that the withdrawal of the Geneva 
Protocol from the United States Senate to which it 
had been submitted for ratification had coincided with 
discussion of an appropriation of $6,000,000 for the 
purpose of developing bacterial weapons. Major ~en
era! Waitt, Chief of the Chemical Corps of the Umted 
States Army, had stated in that connexion that the 
potentialities of bacterial warfare were of the same 
order as those of the atomic bomb, and that it had the 
additional advantage of not destroying material. Those 
two statements could only increase the suspicion that 
certain States were preparing bacterial weapons for 
the purpose of using them in violation of the Geneva 
Protocol of 1925 and other international conventions. 

43. The adoption of the Soviet Union draft resolution 
(A/C.1/L.67) would not prevent the Disarmament 
Commission from dealing further with the matter 
within the general framework of the prohibition of 
weapons of mass destruction. The United Nations had 
encountered great difficulties in drafting new .conven
tions on such prohibition. It was surely better m those 
conditions to strengthen an existing instrument which 
had proved useful during the last twenty years. 

44. The United Kingdom proposal to give priority to 
the five-Power draft resolution (A/C.ljL.68) was 
merely an' attempt to extricate delegations from the 
embarrassing position of having to tal~e a stand for 
or against an appeal to accede to or rattfy the Geneva 
Protocol. The exception to the ~ule that dra~t reso.lu
tions should be put to the vote m the order m \~htch 
they had been submitted concer_ned ~nlr exceph?nal 
cases where it was necessary to g1ve pnonty to ~ gtv~n 
draft resolution. Such a necessity had not ansen m 
the present discussion and the general rule laid down 
in rule 130 of the rules of procedure should be 
followed. Any other procedure would constitute an 
attempt to avoid a vote which would demonstr~te that 
certain delecrations were in favour of developmg and 
usina bacterial weapons and not of prohibiting them. 
He ~ailed upon members of the Committee to. support 
the USSR draft resolution which would allow a con
structive result to be achieved from a debate in whi~h 
attempts had been made to sow hatred against certam 
peoples, particularly the peoples of North Korea and 
China. 



140 General Assembly-Eighth Session-First Committee 

45. Mr. DAVID (Czechoslovakia) thought that rule 
130 of the rules of procedure should be strictly applied 
and that the USSR draft resolution should be put to 
the vote first. That order of voting was desirable not 
only for procedural reasons, but because the USSR 
draft resolution responded to the desires of all civilized 
nations and the aspirations of all peace-loving peoples. 
The arguments against that draft resolution put for
ward by certain delegations were intended to allow the 
use of procedural manceuvres to shelve it after it had 
been referred to the Disarmament Commission. The 
Czechoslovak delegation considered that the use of 
bacterial weapons should be prohibited. It would there
fore press for a vote to be taken on the Soviet Union 
draft first and would also vote for the draft resolution 
itself. 

46. Mr. MAZA (Chile) stressed that the gist of the 
question before the Committee was that the United 
Nations armed forces had been charged with the use 
of bacterial weapons in Korea; that those charges had 
been supported by statements by the enemy authorities 
and depositions by captured United States airmen; 
that those airmen, on their return, had stated that their 
testimony had been extorted from them ; that the 
USSR had submitted a draft resolution inviting all 
States to accede to the Geneva Protocol, a proposal 
intended to ·Censure the United States; and, finally, 
that communist China and North Korea had refused to 
co-operate in an impartial investigation of the charges. 
In that connexion he noted that no one, not even a 
prisoner, had ever accused his country of his own free 
will. A traitor to his country or to his country's allies 
remained a traitor whether he was a prisoner or not. 
A political assembly was not legally competent to rule 
on a matter which should be the subject of an impartial 
investigation. 

47. In the circumstances, an invitation to certain 
countries to accede to or ratify the Geneva Protocol 
could not be a proper remedy for the horrors to which 
reference had so often been made during the discus-

Printed in U.S.A. 

sions. The five-Power draft resolution (A/C.ljL.68) 
should be adopted by the Committee if there was 
genuine desire to throw light on the difficult problems 
involved and to punish the guilty parties. 

48. Mr. CHAVES (Paraguay) felt that the only 
purpose of the Soviet draft resolution ( AjC.ljL.67) 
was to cast suspicion on certain countries, especially 
the United States, by charging it with using methods 
of war prohibited by international law. From the be
ginning, world public opinion had been convinced of 
the falsity of those charges. It should be stressed that 
the accusers had systematically refused, both in the 
Security Council and the General Assembly, to allow 
any international and impartial investigation. The 
inevitable conclusion was that the Communists, while 
making charges, were attempting to prevent the truth 
from being revealed. The world was shocked and in
dignant at the methods used to extract confessions from 
the prisoners of war. After the cases of Cardinal 
Mindszenty, Mr. Oatis, the newspaper correspondent, 
and others, it knew the methods of mental and physical 
torture used by the Communists. The USSR draft 
resolution should be studied against that sinister back
ground. Its purpose was to divide, confuse and cast 
discredit on the United Nations action against the 
aggressor. His delegation would therefore vote against 
the draft resolution and for the five-Power draft 
resolution (A/C.ljL.68). 

49. Mr. SARPER (Turkey) considered that, if the 
debate about the false charges of bacterial warfare 
resulted in the adoption of the Soviet draft resolution, 
it would be tantamount to a condemnation of the 
United Nations. His delegation would vote against it 
if it was put to the vote. The five-Power draft resolu
tion should be voted on first as it raised a previous 
question. The Committee could vote on the USSR 
draft only if the five-Power draft resolution was re
jected. 

The meeting rose at 12.55 p.m. 

M-42200-December 1953-2,000 




